FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 10/23/2020 2:59 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/26/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99148-1

No. 79758-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

MAX HURLBUT and HUEIH-HUEIH HURLBUT,

Petitioners

v.

JAMES M. and JONI J. CRINES,

Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK J. LEE, WSBA #19339 Brownlie Wolf & Lee, LLP 230 E. Champion Street Bellingham, WA 98225 Ph. (360) 676-0306

E-mail: mark@bellinghamlegal.com

Attorneys for Petitioners Max and Hueih-Hueih Hurlbut

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS			
II.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1			
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1			
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE2			
V.	ARGUMENT9			
	A. The Opinion Is in Direct Conflict With Longstanding Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Precedent			
	a Contract Is Terminable Where an Express Condition Is Breached			
	B. The Applicability of Ross to an Easement Is of Public Interest. 18			
VI.	CONCLUSION19			
APPENDIX A				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Akasu v. Power, 325 Mass. 497, 91 N.E.2d 224 (S.Ct. MA 1950) 13, 19
<u>City of Edmonds v. Williams</u> , 54 Wn.App. 632, 774 P.2d 1241 (1989) 12
Cowan v. Gladder, 120 Wn. 144, 206 P. 923 (1922)
<u>Davis v. Altose</u> , 35 Wn.2d 807, 215 P.2d 705 (1950)
Gerard-Fillio Co. v. McNair, 68 Wash. 321, 123 P. 462 (1912)
<u>Haley v. Brady</u> , 17 Wn.2d 775, 137 P.2d 505 (1943)
<u>Hanna v. Margitan</u> , 193 Wn.App. 596, 373 P.3d 300 (2016)
Henderson v. Bardahl Int'l. Corp., 72 Wn.2d 109, 431 P.2d 961(1967) 16
Kelly Springfield Tire Co. v. Faulkner, 191 Wn. 549,
71 P.2d 382 (1937)
Pacific N.W. Group A v. Pizza Blends, Inc., 90 Wn.App. 273,
951 P.2d 826 (1998)
<u>Pinkum v. Eau Claire</u> , 51 N.W. 550 (1892)
Ritchie v. State, 39 Wash. 95, 81 P. 79 (1905)
Ross v. Harding, 64 Wn.2d 231, 391 P.2d 526 (1964)
Sanders v. City of Seattle, 160 Wn.2d 198, 156 P.3d 874 (2007)
RULES
RAP 13.3(b)
RAP 13.4(b)

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Max Hurlbut and Hueih Hueih Hurlbut ("Hurlbuts") were Respondents/Cross-Appellants in the Court of Appeals and the Plaintiffs in the Trial Court.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Hurlbuts seek review of the September 28, 2020, Published Opinion of Division One of the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington in Hurlbut v. Crines, No. 79758-1-I, attached as Appendix A ("Opinion"). ¹

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals take action in direct conflict with Ross v. Harding, 64 Wn.2d 231, 391 P.2d 526 (1964) when it concluded, contrary to this decision, that the parties' Amenities Easement Agreement could only be terminated based upon its breach if the document contained an express provision providing for such a remedy?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals take action in direct conflict with decisions of the Washington Supreme Court and Washington Court of Appeals when it refused to enforce an undisputed oral modification to the parties' Amenities Easement Agreement, based upon a provision in the

1

¹Citation to the Opinion will be to the copy attached as Appendix A, since the reported decision is not yet available.

Amenities Easement Agreement prohibiting oral modifications and the statute of frauds, RCW 64.04.010?

3. Should this Court review whether an easement can only be terminated based upon the breach of an express condition, where the document contains an express provision contemplating such remedy?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case relates to the interpretation and application of a June 27, 2002, Amenities Easement Agreement ("Easement") that was originally granted by Hurlbuts to Respondent/Cross-Appellant Max Hurlbut's ("M. Hurlbut") brother, Kim Hurlbut. CP 148, ¶ 4; Ex 25. The underlying facts relating to the Easement are undisputed:

- Hurlbuts own property on Lake Whatcom in Whatcom County, Washington ("Lakefront Property"), and four lots across the street from the Lakefront Property ("Hurlbut Property"). CP 146-147, ¶ 1.
- Appellants/Cross-Respondents James M. and Joni J. Crines ("Crines") currently own four lots that are also across the street from the Lakefront Property ("Crines Property"). CP 148, ¶ 2.
- Kim Hurlbut also once owned another three lots across from the Lakefront Property that were eventually sold to Steven M. and Kelly L. Wynkoop, and Bradley J. Krantz and Elizabeth Dunphy on April 14, 2004 ("Wynkoop Property"). CP 148, ¶ 3 and CP 151-152, ¶ 17.

- On June 27, 2002, Hurlbuts and Kim Hurlbut executed and recorded the Easement, which burdened the Lakefront Property and benefited the Crines Property, the Wynkoop Property, and the Hurlbut Property. CP 148, ¶ 4.

Although a variety of Easement provisions were evaluated by the Court of Appeals, only three are at issue in terms of this request for review. The first is the critical provision which conditionally grants the Crines their underlying easement rights:

Grant of Easement. Grantors grant the current and future owners or tenants of Grantees Property, the right to use Grantors Property and associated Amenities. It is the intent of the parties that the easement granted herein and hereby be conditioned upon the Owners paying their fair share of the costs of maintaining the Amenities and the Owners or tenants of the Owners obeying all the generally applicable rules of use of the Amenities, as defined herein and from time to time amended by the owners of Grantors Property. In consideration of which, the current and future Owners or tenants of the Owners shall have the same rights to use the Amenities and any owners or tenants of the Grantors Property, subject, of course, to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

CP 149, ¶ 6 (emphasis added) ("Compliance Condition"). There is no dispute that over the years, M. Hurlbut regularly advised Crines that he had a right to terminate the Easement if the Compliance Condition was not met. This first occurred during a meeting with Crines shortly after their acquisition when he explained that he could "rescind the agreement if the

conditions were not adhered to...," including the obligation to pay assessments and follow any adopted rules of use. RP 29-32 (12/4/18). The Crines did not object to this purported right. RP 32 (12/4/18).

M. Hurlbut also asserted this right in many written reports to the Crines, including in a December 31, 2004, Annual Report: "The abuse or violation of the rules will be cause for the suspension of the violator's use of grantors' facilities and Amenities." Ex 20, p. 3. He expressed the same thing verbally to the Crines and Wynkoops during a 2004 meeting, to which the Crines did not object. RP 38-39 (12/4/18). See also Ex 3, p. 9; Ex 5, p. 9; Ex 9, p. 3; Ex 18, p. 3; Ex 19, p. 3; and Ex 36, p. 2.

Not only did Joni Crines understand M. Hurlbut's opinion, but she actually agreed that Hurlbuts had the right to terminate the Easement:

- Q. Did Mr. Hurlbut talk to you about that, you following the rules and paying your fair share was a condition of your right to use the lakefront property, did he talk to you about that?
- A. Are we still talking about the day that he came over and met us or are you talking about a different time?
- Q. Did he ever talk about that between 2004 and 2013?
- A. Yes. We spoke about those things at the annual meeting.
- Q. Okay. And, um, was that a frequent topic that Mr. Hurlbut brought up, the fact that your right to use the lakefront property was conditioned on your following the

rules and pay paying your fair share, reasonable, following reasonable rules?

A. I think if you read his things, he repeats that over and over, so yeah.

Q. All right.

A. So it was a continuous thing.

* * *

Q. But did you disagree with him that your right to use it was conditioned upon you following reasonable rules and paying your fair share, did you ever disagree with that?

A. I agreed.

RP 240-41 (12/4/18).

The other two critical provisions relate to the financial obligation for maintenance of the Lakefront Property. Under the Easement, the obligation to maintain the Lakefront Property is imposed on its owner, but the financial responsibility is placed on each of the benefiting property owners on a pro rata basis:

Operations and Maintenance. Grantors agree to operate, maintain and repair the Amenities in good condition and repair, the costs of which shall be borne proportionately between all the Owners, i.e., based upon number of lots respectively owned. For example, if someone owns three of the eleven lots comprising Grantees Property, his or her share of costs will be 3/11ths of the total. The costs may be collected annually through regular or special assessments, as set forth below.

CP 149, \P 7) ("Cost Sharing Provision"); see also CP 149, \P 8.

There is no dispute that there was a verbal modification to the Easement's Cost Sharing Provision under which the parties agreed that the Crines and Wynkoops² would be solely responsible to pay all annual maintenance costs for the Lakefront Property for the same amount of time in which M. Hurlbut performed these services for free, when M. Hurlbut ceased doing the work. As the Trial Court's uncontested Findings of Fact explain:

- 19. Since Crines' acquisition of the Crines Property and until 2013, M. Hurlbut performed in good faith all maintenance work to the Hurlbut Lakefront Property personally, and without charge to the benefiting properties under the Easement. In various writings over the years, M. Hurlbut stated to the Crines and Wynkoops that he was performing maintenance for a period of time without charge and that he expected at some point to become unable to perform them personally. As Crines and Wynkoops paid nothing for maintenance for a period of time, M. Hurlbut expected that they would pay all of the maintenance costs for a similar period of time after he was unable to continue to do such work, but this expectation was not put into writing and signed by the Crines and/or the Wynkoops.
- 20. Nonetheless, Crines did not have to pay maintenance costs for ten years, and this was a benefit to them, and M. Hurlbut notified them of his expectation and understanding that the parties had an agreement that the other owners would be responsible to solely pay for maintenance costs for a comparable amount of time that he provided such work for free. The Crines were aware

6

² All references to Crines as the sole party responsible for maintenance costs under the parties' modification is based upon the fact that Wynkoops executed a Quit Claim Deed to Hurlbut of any and all interest in the Hurlbut Lakefront Property, thereby effectively terminating the Easement as to the Wynkoop Property. CP 155-56.

of M. Hurlbut's expectation and belief, and never objected or otherwise responded to his communications on this issue. M. Hurlbut performed the maintenance work for the benefit of all Owners in reliance that the other Owners (including the Crines) would pay all maintenance costs for an equal period of time. Such reliance was reasonable and to Hurlbut's detriment.

CP 152-153.

In conjunction with this undisputed modification, the Easement contains a standard provision requiring amendments to be in writing:

Amendments. It is hereby mutually agreed and understood that any additions, variations, or modification to this Easement shall be void and ineffective unless in writing and signed by the parties hereto or their successors ion [sic] interest.

CP 151, ¶ 16 ("Modification Provision").

Hurlbuts filed the underlying action seeking, <u>inter alia</u>: (1) termination of the Easement based upon Crines' failure to pay annual assessments and/or comply with rules adopted by Hurlbuts; and (2) if not terminated, then Hurlbuts alternatively sought a modification to the Easement to conform to the parties' agreement that Crines would pay all costs of maintaining the Lakefront Property. After a bench trial, the Trial Court agreed that the Easement was terminable based upon Crines' failure to pay assessments or follow rules adopted by Hurlbuts. Nonetheless, it concluded that Crines' failure to pay assessments was not a "breach" of

the Easement, based upon a convoluted interpretation that each annual assessment needed to be unanimously adopted by all parties.³

As to the request to modify the Easement's apportionment of maintenance costs, the Trial Court found, as a matter of fact, that the parties had orally modified the cost apportionment to require Crines to pay all such expenses for ten years. Nonetheless, the Trial Court concluded that this modification was unenforceable under the Easement's Modification Provision.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Trial Court's legal conclusion that the Easement was subject to termination based upon a breach, instead concluding that such relief was only available if expressly referenced in the Easement. As to the parties' modification to payment of maintenance expenses, the Court of Appeals agreed with the Trial Court that such could not be enforced because of the Modification Provision and the statute of frauds, RCW 64.04.010.⁴

-

³ The Trial Court also found that the Crines did not materially fail to follow the rules set by Hurlbuts. Hurlbuts challenged this Finding of Fact on appeal. Given the Court of Appeals' decision, this issue and the Trial Court's conclusion that the Crines needed to approve all annual assessments was never considered. Either this Court will need to consider these derivative issues if the Court of Appeal's determination of the terminability of the Easement is reversed, or remand to the Court of Appeals.

⁴ Crines did not challenge the Trial Court's finding that a modification had occurred, and therefore the Court of Appeals was without any avenue to alter this factual finding.

V. ARGUMENT

Appeal of the Opinion is authorized under RAP 13.3(b), and whether review should be accepted is subject to the following factors:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

* * *

(3) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Opinion Is in Direct Conflict With Longstanding Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Precedent.

The two pertinent issues are both legal ones and have been subject to controlling precedent which is directly contrary to the conclusions of the Court of Appeals. Given the drastic inconsistency, it is imperative for the Supreme Court to accept review and ultimately reverse the Opinion in order to avoid uncertainty for future litigants.

1. <u>This Court Has Already Concluded, Inconsistent to the Court of Appeals, That a Contract Is Terminable Where an Express Condition Is Breached.</u>

Notably absent from the Opinion is citation to nor addressing of this Court's ruling in Ross v. Harding, supra, 64 Wn.2d, which requires a different outcome then that of the Court of Appeals. Again, the Court of Appeals' premise to reject a termination is based on a conclusion that such relief is only available where expressly noted:

'Termination of easements is disfavored under the law.' City of Edmonds v. Williams, 54 Wn. App. 632, 636, 774 P.2d 1241 (1989). Because the easement does not provide for the remedy of termination—and instead provides remedies for both the failure to pay annual assessment and for a violation of the rules—the trial court erred in concluding that the easement can be terminated for a violation on one of the conditions in paragraph 2.

Opinion, p. 10.

Ross holds to the contrary. Initially, the Court of Appeals failed to recognize that rights arising under an easement "like any other conveyance of rights in real property, is fixed by the language of the instrument granting the right." Sanders v. City of Seattle, 160 Wn.2d 198, 214, 156 P.3d 874 (2007) (citation omitted). In this, an "easement must be construed strictly in accordance with its terms in an effort to give effect to the intentions of the parties." Id. at 214-15. Crines were privileged to use the Lakefront Property "only to the extent expressly allowed by the easement." Id. at 215 (citation omitted).

The ruling in <u>Ross</u> long ago established that in Washington, a contract is terminated where one party fails to comply with an express "condition subsequent":

A 'condition' whether it be 'precedent' or 'subsequent' either express, implied may in fact. constructive....'Conditions precedent' are those facts and events, occurring subsequently to the making of a valid contract, that must exist or occur before there is a right to immediate performance, before there is a breach of contract duty, before the usual judicial remedies are available....A breach of a 'promise' subjects the promissor to liability in damages, but does not necessarily excuse performance on the other side. Nonperformance or nonoccurrence of a 'condition' prevents the promissee from acquiring a right, or deprives him of one, but subjects him to no liability....Where it is doubtful whether words create a 'promise' or an 'express condition,' they are interpreted as creating a 'promise.'

Whether a provision in a contract is a condition, the nonfulfillment of which excuses performance, depends upon the intent of the parties, to be ascertained from a fair and reasonable construction of the language used in the light of all the surrounding circumstances....

Any words which express, when properly interpreted, the idea that the performance of a promise is dependent on some other event will create a condition. Phrases and words such as 'on condition,' 'provided that,' 'so that,' 'when,' 'while,' 'after,' or 'as soon as' are often used.

Id. at 236-37.

Neither Crines nor the Court of Appeals has argued that the pertinent language in the Easement is anything but a "condition subsequent" that would be controlled by this rule of law. Such an argument would be futile, since the Crines' rights under the Easement are expressly "conditioned upon the Owners paying their fair share of the costs of maintaining the Amenities and the Owners or tenants of the

Owners obeying all the generally applicable rules of use of the Amenities,...." CP 149, ¶ 6; Ex 25, p. 2, ¶ 2 (emphasis added).

There is equally no authority or basis to support the need for an express provision because the underlying agreement is an Easement. Although it is true that termination of easements is disfavored, City of Edmonds v. Williams, 54 Wn.App. 632, 636, 774 P.2d 1241 (1989), such can occur for a variety of reasons, including through abandonment or adverse possession. See Hanna v. Margitan, 193 Wn.App. 596, 606-607, 373 P.3d 300 (2016). The easement rights are expressly conditioned upon satisfaction of certain obligations and there is absolutely no reason why the pertinent rights should not be terminated as mandated by Ross.⁵

The Court of Appeals' attempt to avoid this inevitability based upon a proposition that the Easement expressly limits the available relief is a misstatement of what the document says. It is true that the failure to pay an assessment creates a lien. However, the Easement does not limit the scope of relief for the failure to pay an assessment to enforcement of the lien. Indeed, it provides the exact opposite:

⁵ In the past, Crines have argued that an express right must be included to terminate an easement for a breach based upon such a conclusion in the Washington Real Property Deskbook. However, the deskbook's reference is allegedly based upon the ruling in Cowan v. Gladder, 120 Wn. 144, 206 P. 923 (1922). Cowan did not review the impact of a breach of a condition in an easement or termination of an easement. Instead: "It will be seen that the question involved is whether an easement was created by the first instrument, and, if so, whether it ran with the land or was simply an easement in gross, creating a right personal to the grantor." Id. at 145. Thus, the relied-upon reference provides no legal support to the statement in the Real Property Deskbook.

11. Remedies. In the event of a breach of any of the covenants or agreements set forth in this Easement, the parties hereto shall be entitled to any and all remedies available at law or in equity, including, but not limited to the equitable remedies of specific performance or mandatory or prohibitory injunction issued by a court of appropriate jurisdiction.

Ex 25, p. 5, \P 11. Thus, for any breach of the Easement, whether Crines' failure to pay an assessment or to follow the rules, Hurlbuts are entitled to any relief allowed by law or equity, which necessarily includes termination as mandated in <u>Ross</u>.

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