FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/23/2020 2:42 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99148-1

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 79758-1-I (consolidated with No. 79850-2-I)

## COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

MAX HURLBUT and HUEIH-HUEIH HURLBUT,

Petitioners,

٧.

JAMES M. and JONI J. CRINES,

Respondents.

### RESPONDENTS CRINES' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Greg Greenan, WSBA #16094 CARMICHAEL CLARK, P.S. Attorneys for Respondents Crines 1700 D. Street, Bellingham, WA 98225 Phone: 360-647-1500 Fax: 360-647-1501

TGGreenan@CarmichaelClark.com

##

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

#### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Appellants' attempt to create a "conflict" between an easement case and a conditional contract case. No such conflict exists.

### 1. An easement is not (merely) a contract.

Easements are more than a contract. "Like estates in land, they are property rights or interests." 17 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: REAL ESTATE: PROPERTY LAW § 2.1, at 79 (1995). When easement rights are vested, they cannot be waived orally. Gray v. McDonald, 46 Wn.2d 574, 580, 283 P.2d 135 (1955) (citing Northwest Cities Gas Co. v. Western Fuel Co., 13 Wn.2d 75, 123, P.2d 771 (1942); King County v. Hagen, 30 Wn.2d 847, 854, 194 P.2d 357 (1948)). An easement is an interest in land subject to the provisions of RCW

64.04.010, which requires that conveyances be accomplished by deed. *Ormiston v. Boast*, 68 Wn.2d 548, 550, 413 P.2d 969 (1966). An easement appurtenant is an irrevocable interest in land. *Bakke v. Columbia Vly. Lumber Co.*, 49 Wn.2d 165, 170, 298 P.2d 849 (1956). An easement appurtenant passes to successors in interest by the conveyance of the property to which it is appurtenant regardless of whether it is specifically mentioned in the instrument of transfer. *Loose v. Locke*, 25 Wn.2d 599, 603, 171 P.2d 849 (1946); *Cowan v. Gladder*, 120 Wash. 144, 145, 206 P. 923 (1922).

## 2. In the absence of a termination clause, an easement is not terminable.

"Termination of easements is not favored . . . and an easement can be extinguished only in some mode recognized by law." 1 Wash. Real Property Deskbook, sec. 10.6(2), at 10-27 (3d ed. 1997) (citing 28 C.J.S. Easements sec.52 (1941)). "The owner of a servient estate . . . may not, by his or her own volition, terminate or abridge an easement." *Id.* (citing *King County v. Hagen*, 30 Wn.2d 847, 194 P.2d 357 (1948)). "Unless the instrument that creates the easement so provides, an easement may not be terminated without the consent of the owner of the easement." *Id.* (citing *Cowan v. Gladder*, 120 Wash. 144, 206 P. 923 (1922)).

The Easement at issue in the present case is appurtenant and perpetual:

<u>Binding Effect</u>. The burdens of this Easement shall run with the Grantors Property and Grantees Property, shall benefit the Grantees Property and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, transferees, or successors in interest or assigns of the Grantors and Grantees.

### CP 109 (Exhibit 25, ¶7).

The Easement provides that use of grantors property is "conditioned upon the Owners paying their fair share of the costs of maintaining the Amenities and the Owners or tenants of the Owners obeying the generally applicable rules of use of the Amenities...." CP 109 (Exhibit 25,  $\P$  2).

The Easement goes on to provide that delinquent assessments become a lien on the benefited property and might be foreclosed in the usual manner. CP 109 (*Exhibit 25*,  $\P\P$  3.1, 3.10). There is no provision for termination of the Easement for nonpayment of assessments.

The Easement also prescribes "rules for use" that include scheduling, clean-up, and safety rules. CP 109 ( $Exhibit\ 25$ , ¶ 5). The clean-up rule provides that users are financially responsible for any damage they cause. The safety rule provides that "anyone violating these and or commonsense rules of safety and behavior shall be immediately removed."

CP 109 (Exhibit 25, ¶ 5.3). Clearly, the grantor wished to retain some control over the burdened property. The grantor did not provide that the Easement could be terminated, however.

Appellant M. Hurlbut drafted the Easement. VRP 17 12/04/18) (CP 109, Tr. Ex. 25), which must, therefore, be strictly construed against Hurlbut. *Harris v. Ski Park Farms, Inc.*, 120 Wn.2d 727, 745, 844, P.2d 1006 (1993).

In Central Christian Church v. Lennon, 59 Wash. 425, 109 P. 1027 (1910), the easement provided as follows:

...if at any time any of the aforesaid conditions are violated in any way the party of the second part [owner of the benefitted parcel], his heir or assigns, shall forthwith and without action of suit **forfeit** all right to aforesaid described right of way and his or their interest, and all thereof in and to the same shall forthwith **revert** to and be vested in the parties of the first part [owner of the burdened parcel], their heirs and assigns.

*Id.*, at 426 (emphasis added). Despite this language, the Court refused to extinguish the easement, finding that

[t]he forfeiture clause in a deed must always be construed against the grantor, and nothing will be held cause for forfeiture unless it plainly appears to be such. In order to justify a forfeiture for the violation of the condition, the violation must be willful and substantial, not merely technical.

*Id.*, at 427-28.

Unlike the easement at issue in *Central Christian Church*, the Easement created by Appellant M. Hurlbut in the present case does not contain a termination clause or words such as "termination," "extinguishment," "forfeiture," or "revert," anywhere in the document. Therefore, as a matter of law, the Easement in the present case is not terminable.

Appellants invite the Court to interpret the word "conditioned" contained in the Easement as a termination clause. Strictly construing this word – "conditioned" – against the Grantor, requires the Court to give it its most restricted meaning. In the absence of words clearly providing for termination / forfeiture, the word "conditioned," when construed against the Grantor cannot be "interpreted" to allow for the termination of the Easement, especially given the unfavored nature of termination in general. See Edmonds v. Williams, 54 Wn. App. 632, 636, 774 P.2d 1241 (1989) (Washington law does not favor termination of easements.).

/////

/////

## 3. Ross v. Harding and the other contract cases cited by Appellants do not conflict with the decision.

As the Court will have noticed, the Appellants argue that "[t]his Court has already concluded, inconsistent with the Court of Appeals, that a contract is terminable where an express condition is breached." Petition for Review, p. 9 (emphasis added). The fallacy inherent in this statement, and the Appellants' argument generally, is that, according to Appellants, the easement is not an easement, but merely a contract, to be analyzed without reference to the law of easements. But easements are not merely contracts, they are irrevocable interests in land. The Crineses were not party to a contract with the Appellants; the Easement was created before the Crineses owned their property. Instead, they are successors in interest to a dominant estate of an appurtenant easement that passed to them by the conveyance of the property to which the easement is appurtenant. Analysis of their rights thereunder must be with reference to the law of easements.

Ross v. Harding, supra, the case the Appellants claim is in conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision in this case, is a case involving the interpretation of a "conditional sale contract." The analysis contained therein, including the language quoted in the Appellants' petition at page

11, is simply inapplicable to the present case. Conditional sale contracts and vested appurtenant easements are not interchangeable.

In Ross a conditional sale contract for purchase of a grocery store was specifically conditioned as follows: "It is specifically understood and agreed that this offer is made subject to the written consent of the lessor of the said building to assignment and/or renewal of the existing lease." Id. at 233. The lease was assigned or renewed by the administrator of the estate of an individual who had owned the building. Unfortunately, the administration of the estate had been discharged prior to assigning the lease. At the time of the purported assignment, the premises subject to the lease was the property of the decedent's heirs. The trial court found that the assignment was "null and void from its inception." Id. at 235. The Supreme Court agreed. At the outset of the opinion, the Ross Court stated that "[the litigants'] 'legal rights' must be determination by a consideration of the law of **contracts** and specifically by the application of 'interpretive rules which are extremely subtle and artificial." Id. at 232 (emphasis added). Ross is not an easement case. It is a conditional contract case. Respondents do not dispute that conditional contracts have conditions. Ross is good law as far as it goes. It has no application to the interpretation of an appurtenant easement and therefore cannot conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in this case.

The Appellants' argument that "[n]either Crines nor the Court of Appeals has (sic) argued that the pertinent language in the Easement is anything but a 'condition subsequent'" is disingenuous. See Petition, p. 11. The Appellants argue that the "pertinent language" is a "condition subsequent" for the first time in this Petition. The Respondents and Court of Appeals did not argue the opposite previously because Appellants have never used the term "condition subsequent" in their prior briefing. Appellants' argument has always been, and continues to be, a moving target.

Appellants' reliance on *Akasu v. Power*, 91 N.E.2d 224 (Mass. 1950), is similarly misplaced. *Akasu* appears to be the only case extant wherein a court has terminated an easement in the absence of a clear termination clause. Obliviously, a 70-year-old aberration from a state across the country is not controlling, or even marginally persuasive, given Washington's strong aversion to terminating easements. The rule that termination clauses are always construed against the grantor is not addressed in *Akasu*, and apparently does not apply in Massachusetts.

Additionally, the owner of the burdened parcel at the time of the suit in *Akasu*, was not the drafter of the lease, but a subsequent purchaser. Therefore, if Massachusetts has a rule providing that documents are construed against the drafter, it was not applied. Interestingly, *Akasu* quotes the language from *Pinkum v. Eau Clare*, 51 N.W. 550 (1882), quoted by Appellants at page 19 of the Petition. However, unlike the *Akasu* easement, the easement in *Pinkum* has a clear and unequivocal termination clause.<sup>2</sup> The reasoning in *Akasu* is sloppy. Under Washington law, the easement at issue in that case would not have been terminated.

## 4. The Respondents did not agree that the easement could be terminated.

Based upon the following colloquy during the cross-examination of Joni Crines, the Hurlbuts argue that she agreed that the Hurlbuts have the right to terminate the Easement:

Question by Hurlbut's counsel: But did you disagree with [Max Hurlbut] that your right to use [the Lakefront Property] was conditioned upon you following reasonable rules and paying your fair share, did you ever disagree with that?

Answer by Joni Crines: I agreed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Provided always, and these presents are upon the express condition, that if at any time the above-mentioned contemplated work shall cease to be maintained and operated for the purposes contemplated, required, and authorized by said several legislative acts, the covenants, agreements, and grants herein contained, and these presents, **shall cease and become null and void for every purpose whatsoever**." *Id.* (emphasis added).

### VRP 241.

Counsel clearly did not ask Ms. Crines if the Hurlbuts have the right to terminate the Easement, only whether use of the property is conditioned on following reasonable rules and paying one's fair share of maintenance expenses. As demonstrated above, these are very different questions. To suggest otherwise is disingenuous. Further, the interpretation of the Easement is a question of law for the Court, not a matter that might be "admitted" by a litigant on cross-examination.

### 5. The easement was not orally modified.

Citing the trial court findings of fact to the effect that Max Hurlbut "expected" the Crines and the Wynkoops would pay all of the maintenance costs (CP 216, ¶ 19) and that "[t]he Crines were aware of M. Hurlbut's expectation and did not object or otherwise responded to the communications on this issue," (CP 217, ¶ 17) the Appellants argue "[t]here is no dispute that there was a verbal modification to the Easement's Cost Sharing Provision under which the parties agreed that the Crines and Wynkoops would be solely responsible to pay for the annual maintenance costs ...." Petition, p. 6.

The cited findings of fact say nothing of the kind. The cited findings of fact do not indicate there was an agreement, express or otherwise, to amend the Easement. Instead, the cited findings of fact explicitly state that there was no written amendment of the Easement signed by the parties to reflect M. Hurlbut's unilateral expectation: "...this expectation was not put into writing and signed by the Crineses and/or the Wynkoops." CP 216, ¶ 19. The fact that the Crineses did not respond to M. Hurlbut's expression of his expectations is frankly neither here nor there legally. The Crineses were under no obligation to respond to M. Hurlbut's "expectations." Further, the Crineses did immediately protest the Hurlbuts' assessments the first time M. Hurlbut attempted to assess them more than their fair 36.36% share of the maintenance costs. VRP 263-65; Trial Exhibit 1. The Crineses clearly, unequivocally rejected M. Hurlbut's expectation that they would pay more than their allotted share of the costs of maintaining the Lakefront Property.

As referenced above, the trial court found that the Easement was never amended to reflect M. Hurlbut's expectations that the Crines and Wynkoops would take over 100% of the costs of maintaining the Lakefront Property. CP 216, ¶ 19.

The Easement provides that the costs of maintenance "shall be borne proportionately between all of the Owners, i.e. based upon the number of lots respectively owned." Trial Exhibit 25, ¶ 3.

The Easement also requires that any and all amendments thereto be in writing and signed by the parties:

<u>Amendments.</u> It is hereby mutually agreed and understood that any additions, variation, or modification to this easement shall be void and ineffective unless in writing and signed by the parties hereto or their successors in interest.

Trial Exhibit 25, ¶ 9. The trial court explicitly found that no such amendment had occurred. VRP 216, ¶ 19.

However, the Appellants, relying on cases dealing with conditional contracts, rather than easements, argue that the Easement can be orally amended despite the prohibition contained therein. As indicated above, the Crineses and the trial court both reject the Hurlbut's contention that any agreement, including an oral agreement, to amend the Easement occurred. Further, the Appellants are simply wrong in contending that an easement containing a requirement that it can only be amended by the written agreement of all parties is subject to oral amendment.

Easements are more than a contract. "Like estates in land, they are property rights or interests." 17 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK,

WASHINGTON PRACTICE: REAL ESTATE: PROPERTY LAW § 2.1, at 79 (1995). When easement rights are vested, they cannot be waived orally. *Gray v. McDonald*, 46 Wn.2d 574, 580, 283 P.2d 135 (1955) (citing *Northwest Cities Gas Co. v. Western Fuel Co.*, 13 Wn.2d 75, 123, P.2d 771 (1942); *King County v. Hagen*, 30 Wn.2d 847, 854, 194 P.2d 357 (1948)).

The cases cited by Appellants in support of their argument that the Easement is subject to oral modification despite the clear prohibition in the Easement are all inapposite. None concern an easement. *Richie v. State*, 39 Wash. 95, 81 P. 79 (1905), involves a construction contract. *Haley v. Brady*, 17 Wn.2d 775, 137 P.2d 505 (1943), involves written and oral construction contracts. *Davis v. Altose*, 35 Wn.2d 807, 215 P.2d 705 (1950), involves a construction contract. *Henderson v. Bardahl In'l Corp.*, 72 Wn.2d 109, 431 P.2d 961 (1967), involves a commissioned sales contract. *Kelly Springfield Tire Co. v. Faulkner*, 191 Wn. 549, 71 P.2d 382 (1937), involves a guarantee. *Pacific Northwest Group A v. Pizza Blends, Inc*, 90 Wn. App. 273, 951 P.2d 826 (1998), involves a holdover provision in a lease. If this were a contract case, Appellants would have a point. Appellants can point to no case wherein a vested appurtenant easement was allowed to be orally modified.

B. The erroneous application of *Ross v. Harding* to this case would not be in the public interest.

Applying the reasoning expressed in a case involving a conditional

sales contract to a case involving the interpretation of a vested perpetual

appurtenant easement is only in the public interest if the public is interested

in absolute chaos. The terms "running with the land," "perpetual," and the

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